VEMBERS

Senat or
Senat or
Senat or
Senat or
Senat or
Senat or
Senat or

VEMBERS

ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE RESOURCES STANDI NG COW TTEE
March 9, 2016
3:31 p.m

PRESENT

Cathy G essel, Chair

M a Costello, Vice Chair
John Coghi | |

Peter M cci che

Bert Stednan

Bill Stoltze

Bill W el echowski

ABSENT

Al'l nmenbers present

COW TT

EE CALENDAR

CONFI RVATI ON HEARI NGS

Bo

ard of Fisheries

Al an Cain - Anchorage, Al aska
Robert Ruffner — Sol dotna, Al aska

CONFI RVATI ONS ADVANCED

PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON

No prev

W TNESS

ious action to record

REG STER

ALAN CAI N, Appoi nt ee

Al aska
Anchor a

Board of Fisheries
ge, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified as appoi nt ee.

ROBERT
Al aska
Sol dot n

RUFFNER, Appoi nt ee
Board of Fisheries
a, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified as appoi nt ee.

SENATE

RES COWM TTEE -1-

March 9, 2016



LYNN WH TMORE

Anchor Point, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of confirmng M. Cain
and M. Ruffner.

VS HUMBYRD

Honer, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Spoke in opposition to confirmng M. Cain
and in support of confirmng M. Ruffner.

Rl CHARD MCGAHAN

Ni ki ski, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Requested careful consideration for Board of
Fi sheri es appoi nt ees.

W LLI AM PETERSON, Adm ni strat or

New St uyahok Tribal Counci

New St uyahok, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Spoke in support of M. Ruffner.

JI MW HURLEY

Ekwok, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Encouraged representation of Bristol Bay
fishing interests on the Board of Fisheries.

GEORCGE PI ERCE

Kasi | of, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Spoke in support of havi ng
bi ol ogi sts/scientists on the Board of Fisheries.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

3:31: 04 PM
CHAIR CATHY GESSEL <called the Senate Resources Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 3:31 p.m Present at the call to
order were Senators Stedman, Coghill, Stoltze, Welechowski, and
Chair Gessel. Senators Costello and Mcciche joined shortly
t hereafter.

Confirmati on Hearings
Al aska Board of Fisheries

3:31:14 PM

CHAI R G ESSEL announced confirmation hearings for the Governor's
appointees to the Board of Fisheries. She invited Alan Cain to
tell the commttee about hinself and why he wants to serve on
t he Board of Fisheries.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 2- March 9, 2016



3:31:39 PM
SENATOR COSTELLO joined the commttee.

3:32:14 PM

ALAN CAIN, Al aska Board of Fisheries appointee, Anchorage, said
there are two or three reasons why he wants to serve on the
board. He said he has observed the board providing a wonderful
service to the state, and he has been involved in protecting,
enforcing, and hel ping nanagers in nmanagi ng Al aska's fish. He is
proud of that service and wants to apply it to the board
process. He said he has seen many groups and individuals comne
before the board with a lot of differences, and by listening
very carefully, eval uating needs, and referring to the
constitution and applicable laws, "we <can wusually find an
agreeable solution to nost things." He said he will be happy to
be part of that.

3:32:26 PM
SENATOR M CCI CHE joined the commttee.

3:33:29 PM
SENATOR STCOLTZE asked if he was a DNR [Al aska Departnent of
Nat ural Resources] contract enployee in the Knik area.

MR. CAIN said yes; he was hired to establish the peace officer
and |law enforcenent program He said he provided training and
assisted with the regul ati ons over the years.

SENATOR STOLTZE said he did a good job setting the stage for
[the program.

3:34:48 PM
SENATOR W ELECHOWBKI asked for M. Cain's thoughts on how to
sol ve Cook Inlet issues, like dipnetting, and if there should be

any priority users. He asked about curtailnments of energency
openings in Cook Inlet when fish runs are low, or if dipnetting
and sport fishing should be curtailed first.

MR CAIN said he has no preferences other than the |egal
precedent set forth in Title 16 of Alaska's statutes, which
gives a subsistence preference. He noted that he sat through
"five different cycles of Cook Inlet" and is very famliar with
the user groups involved and the passions they have. He said
that things change, |ike user groups becomng nore efficient in
harvesting, and the board nenbers need to listen very carefully
to all input. The Al aska Departnent of Fish and Gane (ADF&S has

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 3- March 9, 2016



a trenendous anmount of rmanagenent experience and has done an
excellent job of managing "that river" and the adjacent river
systens. Things are in reasonable condition at this tine, he
added, so big changes have to be | ooked at very carefully. There
will always be mnor adjustnents, he said, and he is open to
listening to each user group.

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI asked if he agreed with the conservation
corridor established for the "Mt-Su" recently.

MR. CAI N answered yes.

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI asked if there are any sal nbn managenent
pl ans that are not working.

MR. CAIN said that he does not feel strongly that any nanagenent
plan is not working, but adjustnents and inprovenents are always
needed. He assunes that ADF&G and the wuser groups wll have
suggestions for the board' s Cook Inlet fishery cycle, he said,
and he will take a | ook at each one very carefully.

3:38: 27 PM

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI noted that the Kenai and Kasil of personal -
use fisheries have increased lately, and he asked if M. Cain
supports any proposals that would institute fees, limt boat
use, or reduce the nunber of fish that can be taken.

MR. CAIN said he does not oppose those options; all options need
to be considered carefully.

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI asked if he agrees with the drift fleet
closures so that Southcentral dipnetters can fish "usually
Friday through Saturday or Sunday."

MR CAIN answered yes; that has been an effective way to
increase the take in the river for personal use.

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI noted that there was an increase in the
nunber of fish that could be taken on the Copper River so that
it matches Kenai River |imts, which many people think is a good
thing, but because there are limted places to fish, people are
spending a lot nore tinme dipnetting, so it may have had sone
negati ve i npacts.

MR. CAIN said any change has to be reevaluated year after year.

The board's cyclical schedule provides a chance to assess the
i npacts of any change, he stat ed.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -4- March 9, 2016



3:41: 04 PM
SENATOR STOLTZE asked about limtations on personal -use
fisheries, since M. Cain said he is open to those restrictions.

MR. CAIN answered that he is open to discussion on any changes.
User groups suggest many changes every year, he said, and for
the Cook Inlet cycle there are usually about 500 proposals for
the Board of Fisheries to consider. He will listen, he said, and
he is not interested in disenfranchising any individuals or
groups. His goal is to allocate as equally as can be.

SENATOR STOLTZE said there is not the capacity "to put an equa
nunber up the river as that are harvested by that ever-efficient
drift fleet." He said the snmaller user groups are personal and
sport fishers, and he asked what limts M. Cain is not opposed
to for "the Goliath" drift fleet.

MR. CAIN said there have been nmany ideas from different user
groups to limt one another and even thenselves, and he
considers some to be extrene and others reasonable. The seven
people on the board are there to evaluate every proposal as
fairly as possible and cone up with equitable solutions. In Cook
Inlet, there are lot of people interested in harvesting sal non
and sonetinmes the debates beconme very passionate and enotional
The board needs to calmy listen to all of the suggestions and
sort out the best for that cycle.

3:45: 06 PM

SENATOR STOLTZE said that answer is appropriate, and he does not
expect himto conme in aligned one way or the other. Any tinme the
systemis fair, Senator Stoltze's constituents benefit, he said,
because they cannot afford to hire |obbyists. Fair is about all
t hey can expect fromthe process that is often driven by ADF&G

MR. CAIN remarked that he has seen well-organized user groups
with very strong voices and others who are nore subdued, and he
has wat ched board nenbers listen to both. Listening carefully is
the key to finding a fair solution, he stated.

SENATOR M CCICHE said if there is not a transparent, public
process, it is tough to bring people together. He asked M. Cain
how his service can inprove public confidence, because both
sides often feel like they are not heard, whether they are or
not .

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 5- March 9, 2016



MR. CAIN said that the board nade a huge inprovenent by going to
the commttee process, because the previous nodel of taking
public testinmony for three to five mnutes and going straight to
deliberations didn't give board nmenbers the information they
needed. Public confidence inproved dramatically, he said, and
each individual or group can speak before those conmmttees,
whi ch takes nore days, but "I've watched very polarized factions
nmove a little bit closer together when they hear each other's
opinions and explanations about effects on famlies and
ivelihoods .."

3:47: 32 PM

MR. CAIN said people feel that they have been heard, and the new
process really helps the discussion nove along. He stated that
he wi shed there was nore tinme for the public process, but he
supports the new commttee process.

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI opi ned that the biggest managenent tool "is
to send the commercial fleet out .. and have nore energency
openers.” It seenms like the last resort is to allow sport users
to take nore fish and dipnetters to go longer hours, and he
asked if M. Cain wuld be open to changing the managenent of
over-escapenent to allow nore sport fishing and dipnetting.

MR. CAIN said he would be open to that and any suggestions, "and
any way we can nore equitably spread the harvest between user
groups, | would be open to listening to." He acknow edged that
the commercial fleet is very efficient when there are dramatic
spikes in returns to the river, but there are other ways, and
sone are difficult to manage but not i npossible.

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI asked for his thoughts on the comerci al
setnet fishery. It has been closed for nunerous years, and
[ setnetters] are concerned about that, and sport wusers are
concerned about the inpact on Kenai Chinook sal non runs.

MR CAIN said it is an awkward issue because of the potential
for harvest of king salnmon returning to the Kenai and Kasil of
rivers and the upper reaches of Cook Inlet. "They're efficient
at doing that, and that's been one of the nmjor reasons that
they had to take the concessions that they have," he stated. He
opined that they are a valid and historic user group that needs
careful consideration, but he has no specific suggestions on how
to mnimze the king salnon harvest. He said ADF& G and the
setnet fleet have nmade good progress.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 6- March 9, 2016



SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI asked if he would recommend having areas
limted to only drift boats on the Kenai River.

3:51:12 PM

MR. CAIN answered that such areas could be considered, but he
woul d need to know the specifics. Typically, users have shared
areas because fish are where they are. He said he would like to
hear from ADF&G on its ability to manage the fishery.

SENATOR STOLTZE said Cook Inlet has a mxed-stock fishery, and
he asked if there should be a focus on "nore discrete stock
managenent . "

MR. CAIN said he is not famliar with the nobst recent genetic
studies on where fish run, especially for the streans in Upper
Cook Inlet. He said he does not know "if there's been any big
increases in patterns of where those fish are located or not,
and, probably, if they were able to discover that, the first
thing you could count on is .. change." He stated that he
supports an equitable distribution of fish into all streans that
fulfills the constitutional mandate to sustain fisheries.
Addi tional genetic research on harvest and mgration patterns
can help determne where fisheries can be open and where
corridors should allow for passage, he added.

SENATOR STOLTZE stated that his question was about conservation
of the species when harvesting a m xed stock. He wants to nake
sure fish get back to the right rivers, and it is a difficult
prospect, he said. Sonme political entities are resistant to
getting information and do not want the question to come up
about discreet stock managenent, he stated, because the system
is now advant ageous to "those who do the mass harvests."” He said
the Mat-Su Valley led the effort to analyze genetics, but it was
resisted by the status quo. Pure frustration mght drive an
[ Endangered Species Act] lawsuit, he added. Hi's constituency is
the fish, "because we don't have a constituency that can use
themif we don't have the fish.”

MR. CAIN said m xed stock managenent is difficult all over the
state. The board will consider every factor and nay have to err
on the side of conservation to not deplete any particular run.

3:56:59 PM

SENATOR M CCICHE noted that the Board of Fisheries neets in
specific areas; however, sone of "those interceptions” occur in
ot her areas. He asked how that system can be inproved. He said
t hat Al askans tend to be concerned about their closest neighbors

SENATE RES COW TTEE -7- March 9, 2016



instead of the other fisheries that may be involved. How can
there be "nore of a relationship between the different areas,
particularly when we have a stock of concern on how far out we
shoul d consi der the best nanagenent practices for that species?"

MR. CAIN said it is a very challenging area. He pointed to the
difficulties between the Area M harvesters on the [Al aska]
Peni nsul a and the Yukon and Kuskokwi m area harvesters, where the
river groups feel strongly that a lot of interceptions are
happening. He said the board has tried several strategies, and
he does not have any new ones to suggest, but he feels strongly
that nore scientific genetic studies are needed at all points of
interception. The board needs to be very careful about how they
support managenent plans for m xed harvests, he stated.

SENATOR W ELECHOASKI asked what factors led to the decrease in
salnon returns to [the Matanuska River and Susitna River Basin],
and what can be done to increase them

MR. CAIN said original escapenent, harvests, predation, globa
warm ng, water colum tenperatures, and other ocean conditions
i nfluence returns. The board needs to focus on the things it can
control, he stated.

CHAI R G ESSEL announced that the next order of business would be
the confirmation hearing for Robert Ruffner.

4:01:40 PM

ROBERT RUFFNER, Al aska Board of Fisheries appointee, Soldotna,
said he graduated from the University of Mnnesota in geol ogy,
focusing on river nechanics. He studied nunerical nodeling and
statistics, which will be helpful to the Board of Fisheries. He
said he worked for a conservation organization that was
bal anced, and it worked hard to seat board menbers from all user
groups. It worked on habitat issues, and he is famliar wth
user groups that "use sone of the habitat issues as a sword
agai nst another group." He said he just resigned from his
position there, but he is still working for the organization in
a very limted capacity on a restoration project along the
Tesoro pipeline route.

4:04:16 PM

MR. RUFFNER said he has served on the Kenai Peninsula Borough
pl anning conm ssion and a road [service] board. He wants to
serve on the Board of Fisheries because he wants his kids to
have the experiences he had as a child. He noted that there is a
focus on Cook Inlet, but the board has a trenmendous job with a

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 8- March 9, 2016



mul ti-billion-dollar industry working across the entire state,
and one reason he wants to serve is to learn nore about other
parts of the state. He said he will bring the proper tenperanent
to hear the various user groups. It is inmportant to listen to
t he i npassioned people with concerns and issues and try to bring
people together to find the best solution. Ohers tell him he
has that skill, he said.

4:07:48 PM

MR. RUFFNER said his science and statistical background will be
hel pful .  Understanding how nunerical nodels are derived is
i mportant, and he hopes to illum nate the sophisticated nodeling

techni ques used in fishery and econom c analysis. He added that
he has a strong commtnent to the public process. Al aska's
process is unique in the world, and he strongly believes in the
"AC' process and having proposals brought forward to a body that
can arbitrate them with neutrality and transparency. He wll
al ways state the reasons for his votes, he added.

4. 08:40 PM

SENATOR STOLTZE said he is nore open to M. Ruffner now that he
is applying for a different seat. He asked him if he wants to
revise anything from last year's testinony, particularly wth
regard to his commtnent to the board action on corridors. Has
anyt hi ng changed?

MR. RUFFNER said he put a nunber of points on the record, and he
did not see any fishery that was carried out this year that
would lead him to change any of his positions. He noted that
there was a good showi ng of coho in the valley and on the Kenai.

SENATOR STOLTZE said there is no statutory Kodiak seat on the
board, and M. Ruffner is applying for what has traditionally
been a comercial seat for Bristol Bay. Senator Stoltze said
that M. Ruffner spoke of only two days of conmercial [fishing]
experience, but "I suspect you' ve probably tried to bone up

you probably have broader know edge." He said this is nore of a
commercial seat, and he is confortable with that designation,
but he asked M. Ruffner if he has a broader involvenent or
under standi ng that m ght nake himnore qualified for this seat.

MR. RUFFNER said he fished tw years in the inlet [then
corrected himself later and said he had fished for two days],

but last vyear he did personal-use fishing. He said he
understands the fisheries and how they operate, particularly
salnon. He will have to study up on other species, like crab and

herring, and he has the tinme to do that.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -9- March 9, 2016



SENATOR W ELECHOWEKI comrented that he is glad to see him back
at it; "last year was rough, and it had nothing to do with you.
It was just sinply over the seat designation.” He added that M.
Ruf fner is imensely qualified.

4:13: 57 PM
CHAI R G ESSEL opened public testinony.

4:14:10 PM

LYNN WH TMORE, Anchor Point, said M. Cain has been at Board of
Fisheries neetings for at |east 30-sone years and he cannot
i mgine a better candidate. "He's about as fair a man as |'ve
ever seen sitting in that arena," he stated. He added that M.
Ruffner is a river scientist, which the board sorely needs. Both
candidates are fair, he said. He has seen prejudices on the

board, "and | look forward to watching these guys go through
that process, and |I'm guessing they're going to be real fair
about it."
4:15: 20 PM

WS HUMBYRD, Honer, said he has commercial fished in Cook Inlet
since 1966, "and | was all for M. Cain until he said ...that he
t hought the conservation corridor in Cook Inlet was a good
thing." He now does not want M. Cain confirnmed, because that is
one of the worst things the Board of Fisheries has ever done,
and it put a lot of commercial fishernen out of business. Mny
went bankrupt, he added, because they were not able to get to
where the sockeye salnon were, and alnost 1 million fish went to
waste. He said neither the dipnetters nor anyone else could
catch them M. Ruffner, on the other hand, needs to be
confirmed because he was dragged over the coals |ast year due to
politics. M. Hunbyrd believes that he wll be very fair.

4:16:48 PM
SENATOR STOLTZE said M. Ruffner also supports the corridor. He
asked M. Hunbyrd if he should vote against him

MR. HUMBYRD told Senator Stoltze that that is his own deci sion.
M. Ruffner has a | ot of background in biology, and "I just want
sonebody on that board that uses biological data and science to
make a decision.” He said he is against the conservation
corridor "because we do not fish like Bristol Bay, M. Stoltze,
and everybody up there thinks we do." If people want them to
fish like that, then they should be allowed to fish the first
five mles of the Kenai River, he said, and that way they wll
not be wasting mllions and mllions of dollars of revenue,

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 10- March 9, 2016



whi ch woul d have been $120 million in 2014. He opined that the
conservation corridor was created to benefit the silver salnon
fishermen and the guides in the Mat-Su valley. Wien his fishery
had to let the fish go by, "you went ahead and gave all the
sport fishermen up there a new bag limt at the cost of the
comercial people, and we didn't get to fish anynore. W sat on
t he beach."” Last year was the worst year he has had in 49 years,
and he knows what he is doing, he concl uded.

SENATOR STOLTZE said, "I'm sorry that we supported our
constituents.”

SENATOR M CCICHE said he is not going to condemm folks that he
sees as credible board nenbers "for single statenents that are
identical to other folks that are applying." He said he needs to
choose good board nenbers, and, based on M. Cain's testinony,
he will look at every issue fairly.

4:19: 05 PM

RI CHARD MCGAHAN, Ni kiski, said he started fishing in 1955, and
he hopes M. Ruffner renmenbers his prom se of putting Al askans
first. Regarding M. Cain, he said, "W have got to quit
splitting this inlet wup." In 2014, over-escapenent was 81
percent in Cook Inlet, and that adds up to about $120 nillion
lost to fishernen. Al aska is tal king about budgets, he said, and
things need to be straightened out. The Alaska Constitution
tells ADF&G to utilize the fish, and the governor has the right
to appoint the people to make sure that job is done, "so let's
keep it for Alaskans." |If people read the mssion statenent in
the Board of Fisheries regulations, he said, they would
understand how the fisheries were supposed to be managed, which
is based on the federal and state constitutions. He said to
consi der these [appointnments] very carefully.

4:21:00 PM

WLLI AM PETERSON, Adm nistrator, New Stuyahok Tribal Council,
New Stuyahok, said he has been a commercial fisherman in the
Bristol Bay region, and he asked if the Board of Fisheries has a
representative fromBristol Bay. He wi shed to ask the appointees
guestions [and was told he could not], but he confirmed that he
supported M. Ruffner, but he was not sure about M. Cain.

4:23:43 PM

JIMW HURLEY, Ekwok, said he has lived in Ekwk along the
Nushagak River for about 60 years, and he was hesitant to
support M. Ruffner for the conmmercial seat on the board,
because he | acks comercial fishing experience. There are people

SENATE RES COW TTEE -11- March 9, 2016



in Bristol Bay who have fished all their lives, and the area
represents 50 percent of the fish in the world, so "I don't see
how we're getting left out in Bristol Bay." He said that awhile
back Nushagak River was nunber one for king salnon. He noted
that he sat on the Nushagak Advisory [Commttee] when the
river's kings were in trouble, and it took five years for every
user group to agree on one thing: comercial, sport, and
subsi stence users all had to limt their take.

MR. HURLEY stated that on the Kenai River, every user is cutting

each other's throats, and the resource will be depleted, which
is what happened over 20 years ago on the Nushagak, "but we
built this fishery,” and the river is nunber one for king

sal non. People mght not know what is at stake, "but we |ive on
the river and put our fish up,” and this is why they fought the
Pebble mne. "W need representation on that Board of Fish, a
real commercial fisherman, not a one-two tinme fisherman,” he
added. He said he picks nore fish than anybody, and he is a guy
out of Ekwok, so the experience is there, but they need good
representation. If not, the entire fishery will go down the
drain, he stated. He reconmended against confirmng M. Cain and
M. Ruffner and asked for soneone from Bristol Bay.

4:28:01 PM

GECRCE PIERCE, Kasilof, said the boards of fisheries and gane
are stacked with friends and neighbors, and they are controlled
by fishing and hunting guides. "That's why the fish and gane is
so nessed up today," he stated. Nom nees nust be biologists or
scientists in the appropriate field, not friends, good-old-boys,
or nice guys. The state needs to take control of the fish and
gane boards; legislators need to have control. He said M.
Ruffner is a good guy, but he is a geologist, not a biologist,
neither is M. Cain. "You can't keep confirmng these people
that don't have any know edge of fish or gane,” he opined. He
said M. Ruffner would be good for the position, but the fish
board is wuncontrollable right now, so he urged the legislature
to put scientists on the board.

4:30: 09 PM

CHAIR GESSEL, finding no further coments, closed public
testimony. She stated that accordance with AS 39.050.080, the
Senate Resources Commttee recommended that the names of Alan
Cain and Robert Ruffner be forwarded to the full legislature in
joint session for consideration. This does not reflect an intent
by any nmenber to vote for or against the individuals during any
further sessions.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -12- March 9, 2016



4:31: 35 PM
The Senate Resources Standing Conmittee adjourned at 4:31 p.m

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 13- March 9, 2016



